
 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 
 
If calling please ask for: 
 
Tracey Guinea on 033 022 28679 
Email:  tracey.guinea@westsussex.gov.uk 
 
www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 
West Sussex 
PO19 1RQ 
Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 
 

 
7 July 2023 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
 
A meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 am on Tuesday, 18 July 2023 
at County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 

The meeting will be available to watch live via the Internet at this 
address: 

 
http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 
 

 
 Agenda 

 
1. Declarations of Interest   

 
Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal interest in any 
business on the agenda. They should also make declarations at any stage such 
an interest becomes apparent during the meeting. Consideration should be 
given to leaving the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it. If in doubt, 
contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 
 

2. Minutes of previous meetings of the Committee  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
The Committee is asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 
6 June 2023 (cream paper). 
  
The minutes of the previous meeting of the Committee dated 27 June 2023 are 
in preparation and will be submitted for confirmation to the next meeting of the 
Committee. 
 

3. Urgent Matters   
 
Items not on the agenda that the Chairman of the Committee is of the opinion 
should be considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances. 
 

4. Definitive Map Modification Order  (Pages 13 - 40) 
 
The Committee is asked to consider and determine the following application. 
  
Report by the Director of Law and Assurance: 
  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


DMMO 3/19 - Definitive Map Modification Order Application to modify 
the definitive map and statement for Chichester by adding a bridleway 
from along the length of Sheepwash Lane, from the junction with the 
B2179 at Rookwood Lane, to its end on Redlands Lane, in the parish of 
West Wittering. 
 

5. Date of Next Meeting  (Pages 41 - 46) 
 
The next meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 am on Tuesday, 
5 September 2023 at County Hall, Chichester.   
  
Report by the Head of Planning Services, Director of Law and Assurance and 
Assistant Director (Highways Transport and Planning). 
  
The Committee is invited to ask about planned agenda items and to note the 
following report: 
  
Current Planning Applications, Current Definitive Map Modification 
Orders (DMMOs), Town and Village Green Applications (TVGs) and 
Public Path Orders (PPOs) under investigation. 
 

 
 
 
To all members of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
 
 
 

Webcasting 
 

Please note: this meeting is being filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
County Council’s website on the internet. The images and sound recording may be 
used for training purposes by the Council. 
 
Generally the public gallery is not filmed. However, by entering the meeting room and 
using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible 
use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 

 

Page 2



Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
 
6 June 2023 – At a meeting of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee held at 
10.30 am at County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 
Present: Cllr Burrett (Chairman) 
 
Cllr Ali, Cllr Atkins, Cllr Duncton, Cllr Montyn, Cllr Oakley, Cllr Quinn and Cllr Wild 
 
Apologies were received from: Cllr Gibson, Cllr McDonald and Cllr Patel 
 
Absent: Cllr Kerry-Bedell 
 

 
Part I 

  
1.   Declarations of Interest  

 
1.1    In accordance with the County Council’s Code of Conduct, Cllr 
Duncton declared a Personal Interest in Item 5 – Public Rights of Way 
Progress Report 2022 because she is a member of South Downs National 
Park’s Planning Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee  
 

2.1 Resolved – That the minutes of the Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee held on 7 February 2023 be approved and that they be signed 
by the Chairman. 
  

3.   Urgent Matters  
 

3.1   There were no urgent matters. 
  

4.   Definitive Map Modification Order  
 

DMMO 8/21 – Definitive Map Modification Order to add to the 
Definitive Map and Statement for Cuckfield Rural a footpath from 
the southern end of footpath 11Ar to footpath 25Ar near Stone 
Barn Cottages, in the Parish of Ardingly 
  
4.1 The Committee considered a report by the Director of Law and 
Assurance.  The report was introduced by Charlotte Nash, Trainee Legal 
Executive, who outlined the application and the key points.  The 
Committee was advised that two corrections to dates in the Committee 
report should be noted as follows: 
 

• Page 12, paragraph 7.1.12, bullet point 2 – the reference to 
“2 Nov 1995”, should read 2 Nov 1955. 

• Page 18, paragraph 7.1.24, bullet point 3 – the reference to 
“19/11/23” should read 23/11/54. 

 
4.2 Mr Alan Hillier, representing The Bluebell Railway, one of the 
landowners, spoke in objection to the application.  If this DMMO is 
approved the permissive route, linking the southern end of footpath 11Ar 
to footpath 25Ar that is on Mrs Knowles’ land and has been in existence 
for many years and is in use, will be lost. Plans to reinstate this section of 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



railway line, including moving the permissive path alongside the railway 
fence (still on Mrs Knowles’ land), have been put on hold awaiting this 
application outcome.  The Lewes & East Grinstead Railway Act 1880 
relevant deposited plans and Parliamentary Book of Reference were 
accepted as accurate when the status of this footpath was previously 
considered by East Sussex County Council in the 1950s.  Any changes 
would have had an accompanying formal certificate amending the 
Parliamentary record; none has been produced.  Paragraph 7.7.9 of the 
Committee report suggests that the route in the Book of Reference does 
not relate to the claimed route.  However, the Railway Clauses 
Consolidation Act 1845 provided a general power to realign rivers, roads, 
streams, footpaths and occupation roads, such as this one.  Often bridges 
were constructed away from the original pre-railway route, such as in this 
instance where the farmer would have wanted to continue to use the 
occupation road throughout the railway construction, then the footpaths 
were re-joined after.  Further evidence of the status of the roadway 
through the underbridge can be provided in Enclosure 45 which is 
referenced as “Field, stream, occupation road and footpath”; it is not 
referenced as a public footpath. Railway evidence is considered high 
quality and inspectors would have spoken with all landowners and had 
detailed discussions with surveyors.  
 
4.3 Ms Rosalind Emrys-Roberts of Routewise Consulting, representing 
Mrs Ann Knowles, one of the landowners, spoke in objection to the 
application.  The only evidence provided that refers to a footpath to 
Burstye Farm comes from the Parish Council.  The Ordnance Survey maps 
show the existence of a track, but not the existence of a public right of 
way.  The Railway plans and documents provide evidence that the route 
was an occupation road.  Neither they, nor the Finance Act documents, 
indicate whether the application route either was, or was not, a public 
footpath.  Council records show that objections were made when this path 
was originally included in the 1950s on the draft Definitive Map.  The Rural 
District Council and Ardingly Parish Council, in 1951, recorded that the 
gate under the railway was sometimes locked; there was no indication on 
the ground of the path to the south of the railway, and the route was 
difficult to follow.  In 1956, the Parish Council accepted East Sussex 
County Council’s ruling to delete this claimed route originally included on 
the Draft Definitive Map.  Evidence does show that the application route 
originally existed as an occupation road for the farm to access its own 
land, the evidence does not show the existence of public rights.  The 
claimed route has already been considered in the 1950s, the Committee 
cannot simply re-evaluate the evidence already considered, but needs to 
clearly identify new evidence which, in combination with the previous 
evidence, justifies the decision to reconsider the case and make the Order. 
 
4.4 Mr Chris Smith, representing the Open Spaces Society, the 
applicant, spoke in support of the application.  Historical evidence is 
important because common law provides that once a route is a public 
highway it remains a highway forever, unless there is a Court or other 
Order stopping it up or diverting it and no evidence of that has been found 
in this case.  This is an archive only application, evidence of use is 
required, although it is recorded that the route was obstructed in the 
1930s, which was not unusual during this period.  The landowners were 
asked if they would dedicate the existing permissive path, but this was 
declined.  The application route is part of a longer path, currently showing 
as a dead end at the northern side of the railway on the Definitive Map.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



This is likely incorrect because a footpath will normally join another 
footpath, highway or a place of public interest, which the bridge was 
unlikely to have been.  The only objection to the path as a whole came 
from the Railway Board.  The Parish Council likely withdrew their objection 
in the face of probably quite complex, time consuming and expensive legal 
procedures.  The Finance Act 2010 surveys are new evidence, which were 
not in the public domain at the time of the 1956 decision on the Definitive 
Map.  The Railway Board asserted, at the time, that there was no footpath 
through the bridge, but quite clearly there was, although its public status 
could be objected to.  Throughout all of the reference books for this line 
and the one to Lewes there is only one reference to a public footpath and 
the information about responsibility was incorrectly recorded anyway.  It 
was common for proposers not to state whether footpaths were private or 
public.  Whilst this is not clear evidence of public rights, it is evidence of 
the existence of a route.  The Inland Revenue evidence is extremely 
powerful and fairly set out in the Committee report.  The evidence 
provided makes it clear that it is reasonable to allege that the right of way 
subsists and that an Order should be made so that a Planning Inspector 
can make a final decision. 
 
4.5 All speakers making representation to the Committee stated that 
the Committee must make a decision on the grounds of the lower legal 
test that a right of way could be reasonably alleged to subsist. 
 
4.6 In response to speakers’ comments, Legal Officers clarified how the 
evidence has been dealt with and the legal tests under which it has been 
considered.  There is a conflict of credible evidence.  The Council archives 
are not conclusive.  Records no longer exist for the 15 February 1956 East 
Sussex County Council hearing, so we cannot be certain what evidence 
was considered but the Summary of Evidence indicates that the historic 
documents considered were: the Railway Plans, Tithe Map, Landowner 
depositions and some user evidence.  Evidence submitted by the applicant 
for this claim includes the following new evidence, not considered in 1956: 
Ordnance Survey (1st Edition), Finance Act Field Maps and Conveyance of 
Land from Lt Col Sampson to Railway Company, 1883.  In order to make a 
decision, it is reasonable that all of the evidence, both new and that 
previously taken into account, must be considered as a whole.  Officers 
have concluded that the evidence meets the lower legal test and that a 
footpath can be reasonably alleged to subsist [as per the recommendation 
and paragraph 8.14 of the Committee report]. 
 
4.7 During the debate the Committee raised the points below and 
responses or clarification was provided by the Legal Officers, as follows: 
  

Clarification of the route of the permissive path 
  
Point raised – Clarification was sought as to whether the route of 
the current permissive path is the same as the claimed route. 
  
Response – The permissive route lies to the west of the claimed 
route [shown as the dotted line on slide number 2 of the Committee 
PowerPoint presentation – available on the 6 June 2023 Planning 
and Rights of Way Committee meeting page of the West Sussex 
County Council website at the following url: 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=76
4&MId=3372&Ver=4.] 
  
Was the footpath ever stopped-up? 
  
Point raised – Did the decision of the East Sussex County Council 
on 13 March 1956 mean that the footpath was stopped-up?   
  
Response –The purpose of the 1956 East Sussex County Council 
hearing and decision was to determine the status of the footpath 
and whether it should be included on the Definitive Map, having 
been included on the Draft Definitive Map.  The decision did not 
stop-up the footpath. 
  
New evidence 
  
Points raised – Is it possible to state what evidence was lost in 
relation to the 15 February 1956 hearing and whether the recently 
discovered evidence is, therefore, classed as new evidence?  Does 
the new evidence date from after the construction of the railway?  
Clarification was sought about what happens in cases where 
evidence is in conflict.  Clarification was sought as to whether the 
Council would make a case for the Order on the basis of the higher 
legal test if an objection were to be made to the Planning 
Inspectorate and if the Committee should be making a decision on 
that basis now. 
  
Response – [See also Minute 4.6 above].  The Committee has the 
right to consider new evidence or evidence that was not available at 
the time of the 15 February 1956 hearing. It is considered that 
there is new evidence submitted by the applicant, in particular the 
Finance Act 1910 and Ordnance Survey First Edition.  The Officer’s 
conclusion on Finance Act evidence was that it is not certain that 
the claimed route was one of the public rights of way for which a 
deduction was made.  However, it cannot be ruled out.  While an 
item of evidence may have little evidential value in itself, it gives 
rise to a need to consider the evidence as a whole, with new 
evidence being seen as a link in a chain.  In cases where evidence is 
in conflict or there may be doubt, the law requires that a decision 
should fall on the side of the argument that a footpath can be 
reasonably alleged to subsist.  In these circumstances, if an 
objection is made to the making of the Order then the Planning 
Inspectorate would test the evidence in the form of an Inquiry, 
either by written submission, hearing or Public Local Inquiry and 
make a decision on confirmation of the Order on the basis of the 
higher legal test, whether, on the balance of probability, a footpath 
subsists.  Throughout this confirmation process, the County Council 
would maintain a neutral stance in that it would defend the decision 
of the Committee but would not support confirmation of the Order 
as it is not considered the higher test is met.  The applicant would 
be required to make the case for confirmation.  The Committee is 
required to reach a decision as to whether the claimed route meets 
the lower test, that a right of way could reasonably be alleged to 
subsist. 
 
Termination of FP 11Ar 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2

https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=764&MId=3372&Ver=4
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=764&MId=3372&Ver=4


  
Point raised – It would be reasonable to suppose that footpath 
11Ar did not terminate at the railway bridge but formed part of a 
network to link to footpath 25Ar; this is compelling evidence that a 
historic footpath existed, even though it was removed from the 
Draft Definitive Map in 1956 due to lack of user evidence. 
  
Response – The claimed route was shown on the Draft Definitive 
Map before the decision of the 13 March 1956 hearing to remove it.  
The 15 February 1956 hearing concluded that there was more 
evidence of the existence of a public footpath for the part to the 
north of the railway bridge (footpath 11Ar), including evidence of 
use, and the landowners had declared it to be a public footpath at 
the time of the hearing.  There was less evidence for the southern 
part of the route, the claimed route. 
 
West Sussex County Council and Ardingly Parish Council 
  
Point raised – In reference to paragraphs 7.1.10 and 7.1.11 of the 
Committee report, what was the outcome of the 1985 exchange of 
letters between West Sussex County Council and Ardingly Parish 
Council, and the 1992 evidence from the Parish Council regarding 
possible reinstatement of the claimed route? 
  
Response – There is no evidence on file that Ardingly Parish 
Council ever took forward any options, including the option to apply 
for a DMMO to reinstate the claimed route. 
 
Clarification of the term ‘public rights of way user’ 
  
Point raised – In reference to paragraph 7.3.6 of the Committee 
report, clarification was sought regarding whether the term public 
rights of way user refers to the public’s right to access a piece of 
land, rather than a footpath. 
  
Response – That is correct, this term would mean to access 
broader access rights, for example, access to common land. 
 
Other points 
  
Points raised – The cost of reinstatement of the claimed route, 
whether the reinstatement would impact the businesses of the 
landowners and the length of the route were queried. 
  
Response – These matters are not material to the consideration of 
the application and the legal tests that must be applied. 
 

4.8 The substantive recommendation was proposed by Cllr Atkins and 
seconded by Cllr Duncton, and voted on by the Committee and approved 
by a majority. 
  
4.9 Resolved:- 
  

That a Definitive Map Modification Order, under Section 53 (2) in 
consequence of an event specified in Sub-section 53 (3) (c)(i) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to add a footpath from the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



southern end of public footpath 11Ar to footpath 25Ar near Stone 
Barn Cottages in the Parish of Ardingly be made. 
 

5. Public Rights of Way Progress Report 2022 
 

  
5.1 The Committee considered a report by the Principal Rights of Way 
Officer.  The report was introduced by Nick Scott, Principal Rights of Way 
Officer, who outlined the key points, specifically also noting that the 
number of gates installed has reduced since 2021 and this may be 
accounted for by the increase in costs of materials in the last year.  
Thanks were also given to the various volunteers and groups mentioned 
throughout the report and to County Tree Surgeons in recognition of the 
work they undertake to help maintain the Public Rights of Way network 
(PROW network).  The Committee was advised that two corrections to 
dates in the Committee report should be noted as follows: 
 

• Page 37, paragraph 2.2 – the reference to “our database 2021” 
should read 2022. 

• Page 37, paragraph 3.1 – the reference to “2021” should read 2022. 
 
5.2 The Committee raised the points below and responses or 
clarification was provided by the Principal Rights of Way Officer, as noted 
below.  Members were also encouraged to report any issues to the Public 
Rights of Way Team, so they can be prioritised. 

 
Contracts 
  
Points raised – What is the length time of the contract with County 
Tree Surgeons and also the summer clearance contract? 
  
Response – The PROW maintenance contract with County Tree 
Surgeons is for four years with an option to extend for a further 
three years.  The summer clearance contract is in its second year of 
a two year contract. 
 
Type 1 surfacing 
  
Point raised – What is Type 1 surfacing? 
  
Response – This is a grade of stone used for footpaths, from 
40mm down to dust.  Bridleways may have a different surface. 
 
Use of kilometres rather than miles 
 
Point raised – Why are measurements in kilometres not miles, 
which is the system used for highways in the UK? 
  
Response – Historically this is the measurement that the PROW 
Team has used.  It is likely that this is due to the Ordnance Survey 
maps being in kilometres. 
 
Volunteers in urban areas 
  
Point raised – Are there any volunteers working in Crawley to 
address issues, which are mainly with overgrown vegetation? 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



  
Response – There are fewer volunteers from urban areas, but the 
roaming volunteer inspectors do cover the urban network and 
Highways Officers inspect the paths that have highway status.   
 
England Coastal Path 
  
Points raised – The creation of the England Coastal Path was 
welcomed.  It was noted that the scheme allows for rollback where 
sections of the route may be subject to coastal erosion in future.  
Are there any outstanding issues in relation to Chichester Harbour 
Conservancy?  Who is providing the capital and revenue funding for 
the project and will there be an increase in revenue funding 
provided to the County Council on completion? 
  
Response – There are no outstanding issues with Chichester 
Harbour Conservancy that the Council is aware of.  It is for Natural 
England to work with all the landowners and ensure the relevant 
agreements are in place.  Once that is done the responsibility for 
the route will pass to the Council as the relevant access authority.  
Natural England is covering the capital costs of the project and the 
costs of the Officer to implement it in West Sussex.  Most of the 
Coastal Path in West Sussex runs along existing public rights of way 
as well as some footpaths with highways status.  In future, grants 
will be available, but details of these have not yet been finalised and 
match funding is likely to be required.  There is the possibility that 
the Council will form a partnership with another local authority, but 
that has yet to be agreed; if so, this would have impacts on grant 
funding.   
 
Capital Programme 
  
Points raised – How does the capital programme seek to improve 
the PROW network including access to and from new developments? 
  
Response – The PROW Team feeds into consultations on new 
developments where they are within the red-line boundaries of the 
planning applications.  The Team also looks at the situation outside 
the red-line boundary and it looks for opportunities to improve the 
network.  The PROW Team bids for relevant s.106 and CIL funding, 
although all improvements are prioritised.  Much of the Capital 
Programme is focused on maintaining the existing network.  
 
Ash Die-back 
  
Points raised – How is Ash Die-back affecting the PROW network?  
Who is liable if a tree falls and causes loss or injury? 
  
Response – The Council is very conscious of the issue of Ash Die-
back.  The full impact is difficult to know.  A survey of the PROW 
network has not been carried out yet and options are being 
considered.  The PROW Team is supported by the Arboricultural 
Officers.  As with any issues with unsafe trees the liability lies with a 
landowner.  If a concern is noticed or raised, the Team will engage 
the landowner to persuade them to carry out relevant works. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



Impingement on the public rights of way network 
  
Points raised – How often are footpath widths impinged upon by 
landowners, for example, fences being moved?  It was suggested 
that the Land Registry should be advised of any cases.   
  
Response – The Team is aware of some cases.  Issues raised 
would be looked at on a case-by-case basis and prioritised 
accordingly.  As with any encroachment issue the landowner would 
be contacted to persuade them to resolve the issue.  The Land 
Registry is informed if it is deemed necessary and land charges can 
be placed on the property, if required. 
 
Nesting birds 
  
Point raised – How is the impact on nesting birds mitigated when 
carrying out works on the PROW network? 
  
Response – It is not always possible to avoid carrying out works 
during the bird nesting season, due to this being the most intense 
period of vegetation growth.  It is always a requirement - including 
for landowners - to check for nesting birds before works are 
undertaken. 
 
Frequency of vegetation clearance 
  
Point raised – How often does vegetation clearance take place? 
  
Response – On average, surface vegetation clearance takes place 
once every 15 months.  Under the current contract summer 
clearance works take place from June to September; this is mostly 
on the main routes on the PROW network, e.g. popular and school 
routes.  This contract, which equates to less than 10% of the work, 
is in addition to the maintenance contract with County Tree 
Surgeons.  Side vegetation growth is the responsibility of the 
landowner. 
 
Gates for stiles 
 
Points raised – Not all gates are suitable for those with mobility 
issues.  It was noted that some gates do allow bikes, motorbikes 
and quadbikes to access the PROW network. 
  
Response – Landowners do have a choice of the type of gate and 
this choice can often be influenced by the need for closure of the 
gate to safeguard livestock.  The PROW Team works with 
landowners to encourage the best form of access that can be 
achieved. 
 
Compliments 
  
Points raised – What type of compliments have been received? 
  
Response – Compliments can be from individuals or Parish Councils 
and tend to be thanks for works done, for example, clearance or 
surfacing works, especially when it has been carried out quickly. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



 
Signs 
  
Points raised – Page 38, paragraph 3.1, bullet point 1 of the 
Committee report mentions 1,154 signs, what was the work that 
was done? 
  
Response – Signage work is mainly the replacement of signs which 
have deteriorated over time. 
 
Bridges 
  
Points raised – Page 38, paragraph 3.1, bullet point 2 of the 
Committee report mentions 144 bridges, what was the work that 
was done? 
  
Response – The reference is to maintenance and repair of bridges, 
for example, the replacement of handrails or rotten boards.  
Funding for new bridges comes from the Capital Programme, due to 
the much higher cost. 
 
Volunteer Hours 
  
Points raised – Page 38, paragraph 4.1 of the Committee report 
mentions 3546 hours of volunteer work over 60 days, which does 
not seem like many days. 
  
Response – The reference factors in all the volunteers and their 
time.  Some volunteers are available more often than others.  A 
volunteer co-ordinator leads on each project.  Training is provided 
as is equipment.  The number of volunteers listed with the County 
Council will be advised in the next annual report. 
 

5.3 Resolved: 
 

 The Committee noted the report and agreed that a corrected 
version of the report should be circulated to all Committee members 
and that the report should be made available via the Bulletin (the 
Members’ weekly newsletter) to all Members of the Council. 
  

6.   Date of Next Meeting  
 

6.1 The next scheduled meeting of the Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee will be on Tuesday, 27 June 2023 at 10.30 am. 
 
6.2 Members noted items likely to be considered at the next meetings 
of Planning and Rights of Way Committee include planning application 
WSCC/047/21 - Creation of a 3G Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) with 
perimeter fencing, floodlighting, macadam hardstanding area, storage 
container, timber acoustic barrier fence and macadam access pathway at 
The Forest School, Horsham at the Committee meeting on 27 June 2023 
and DMMO 3/19 - Addition of a BW along the full length of Sheepwash 
Lane, West Wittering – G18 at the Committee meeting on 18 July 2023.  
The scheduling of items to be considered by the Planning and Rights of 
Way Committee is subject to change. 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



The meeting ended at 12.42 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman 

Page 12

Agenda Item 2



1 
 

Key decision: Not applicable 
Unrestricted 

 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee 

18 July 2023 

DMMO 3/19 - Definitive Map Modification Order Application to 
modify the definitive map and statement for Chichester by adding a 
bridleway from along the length of Sheepwash Lane, from the 
junction with the B2179 at Rookwood Lane, to its end on Redlands 
Lane, in the parish of West Wittering 

Report by Director of Law and Assurance 

Electoral division: The Witterings 
 

Summary 

The application seeks to add a bridleway along the length of Sheepwash Lane, 
starting from its junction with the B2179 at Rookwood Lane, to its end on Redlands 
Lane, West Wittering, and was submitted with 6 public way evidence forms 
testifying to use of the claimed route between 1965 – 2018. 

The relevant 20-year period of continuous use for the purpose of the application is 
1998 – 2018. 

The claimed route is currently recorded as a G-class highway. G-class highways are 
a class of highway of a historic nature but over which the extent of the public right 
has not been investigated and established. Given the claimed route’s antiquity it 
was necessary to investigate the historic archive, which included evidence from the 
County Council’s Records Office and from third parties. 

Additionally, the final 80 metres of Sheepwash Lane (from grid reference 479704, 
099573 to its end on Redlands Lane at grid reference 479783, 099557) is already 
registered as D-class highway, so any addition to the definitive and statement of 
the route would need to end at that point. 

It is concluded that the historical evidence meets the lower legal test and that the 
extent of public rights along Sheepwash Lane can be reasonably alleged to be a 
Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT). Therefore, an order should be made to add a 
BOAT to the Chichester Definitive Map. 

Recommendation 

That a Definitive Map Modification Order under Section 53 (2) in consequence of an 
event specified in sub-section 53 (3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
to add a byway open to all traffic to the definitive map and statement for 
Chichester along the length of Sheepwash Lane, from its junction at Rookwood 
Lane with the B2179 to a point 80m west of its end at Redlands Lane, West 
Wittering, should be made.  
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



1 Introduction 

1.1 The application was made by the late Peter Dawson and was received in 
January 2019.  Following Mr Dawson’s passing in early 2023, his neighbour 
Liza Lingham has stated that she is willing to act as applicant in his place.  
The application seeks to add to the definitive map and statement a bridleway 
running along the length of Sheepwash Lane in West Wittering. The 
application was supported by 6 public way user evidence forms, testifying to 
the use of 6 users in total.  The path claimed by the application is shown on 
the application plan. 

1.2 The requirements for the presumed dedication of a public right of way for 
user evidence under statute are set out in Section 31 of the Highways Act 
1980. This requires use of the claimed route by the public as of right and 
without interruption, over a period of 20 years immediately prior to its status 
being brought into question so as to raise a presumption that the route had 
been dedicated.  This may be rebutted if there is sufficient evidence that 
there was no intention on the part of the relevant landowner(s) during this 
period to dedicate the way for use by the public. 

1.3 The application is made under Section 53(5) and is reliant on 53(3)(c)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1980 (WCA), being the discovery by the County 
Council of evidence which shows that a right of way which is not shown on 
the definitive map and statement subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist 
over land. The burden of proof rests with the applicant. 

1.4 Sheepwash Lane is registered by WSCC as a G-class highway on the 
Council’s List of Streets which lists highways maintainable at public expense. 
This means that the route has a status of antiquity and as such carries a 
certain class of public rights, although the extent of these rights has not been 
fully investigated and established.  This investigation and report therefore 
focuses on both the user evidence provided by the applicant and any relevant 
historical evidence to help determine the extent of the public rights of way. 

2.  Character and features of the claimed route 

2.1 The claimed route begins at the junction of Sheepwash Lane with Rookwood 
Lane and the B2179 (at grid reference 478634, 099213) and proceeds in an 
overall north-east direction for approximately 906 metres to grid reference 
479280, 099775, where it turns generally south-east for another 568 metres 
to where it ends at Redlands Lane (at grid reference 479783, 099557).  The 
final 80 metres, from grid reference 479704, 099573 to the junction with 
Redlands Lane, is already registered as D-class highway, so any route added 
to the map would end where it meets that highway.  For the first 24 metres, 
the lane forms part of the junction between itself, the B2179 and Rookwood 
Lane.  The surface is uneven tarmac until grid reference 478633, 099240, 
where Sheepwash Lane takes its own course.  For the next 448 metres, the 
track is around 3 metres wide, with a gravel surface broken by many 
potholes, some of which are over 20cm deep. After Sheepwash House it 
narrows to around 2 metres in width and the surface improves to a smooth, 
smaller gravel and dirt surface.  Where it is dirt, the surface shows regular 
use by horse riders and cyclists. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



2.2 Footpaths 32, 2817, 2818 and 2819 all meet Sheepwash Lane at various 
points.  There is clear use of farm vehicles crossing the path between fields 
at around grid reference 479439, 099746, though no obvious use of the Lane 
by those vehicles. 

2.3 A significant portion of Sheepwash Lane (from its start to grid reference 
479510, 099681; approximately 1.17 kilometres) forms part of the Salterns 
Way Cycle Route from Chichester to East Head, which was created and 
managed by the Chichester Harbour Conservancy. 

2.4 The overall character of Sheepwash Lane is that of quiet country path, with 
an unmade surface and vegetation and/or ditches on either side.  It shows 
the clear character of a track predominantly used by those on foot, bike and 
horseback, and whose suitability matches this use. 

3.  Land Ownership 

3.1  Land Registry documents show the entire extent of the claimed route to be 
unregistered. 

3.2 The applicant served notice of the application on any potential landowner by 
posting a notice at either end of the Lane on 26th February 2019.  On the 
same day he served notice on adjacent landowners and occupiers. 

4.  Consultations 

4.1 Standard consultations were sent to the local member, local access ranger, 
amenity groups, West Wittering Parish Council and Chichester District 
Council.  Consultations were also sent to adjacent landowners. 

4.2 The following comments were received: 

4.3 From Sarah Rayfield, Access Field Officer, London & South East, The British 
Horse Society: 

“It sounds as though historic evidence has not been submitted as part of the 
original application but it does appear to be an ancient highway.  Much of 
[our] evidence indicates perhaps a status higher than bridleway.” 

Officer comment: The evidence produced by the BHS will be discussed in 
paragraph 7. 

4.4 From the Clerk of West Wittering Parish Council: 

“The Parish Council support [this] application and would have taken it on 
[after Mr Dawson’s death] had Liza not wanted to.” 

4.5 Additionally, the following was received from Steve Popple, a local member 
of the Trail Riders Fellowship: 

“I have responsibly ridden road legal motorcycles along the full length of this 
right of way continually since 1978 and wish to continue to do so.  I have 
never encountered or observed any adverse interaction with other travellers 
or farmers etc. The road surface shows signs of agricultural vehicle usage in 
parts but is in good condition and was when I last rode Sheepwash Lane with 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



a companion on 3 May 2023.  Therefore I wish to object to the unnecessary 
proposal to downgrade this sustainable right of way.” 

4.6 Richard Knight, local Ramblers’ Association representative said: 

“As ramblers rep for this area and resident for some 70yrs I can confirm 
without a shadow of doubt that this Lane has been an access for walkers 
farm usage for all this time. It always seemed that maintenance was carried 
by farm when they required access. However, it is a quite busy pathway for 
walkers and cyclists now.” 

4.7 Charles Osmond-Jones, an adjacent landowner said: 

“There is an issue of holiday traffic using Sheepwash Lane as a rat-run or 
drivers having inadvertently accessed same. The nature of Salterns Way 
(Sheepwash Lane) is predominantly for leisure use by cyclists, walkers and 
wheelchair users which does not quite gel with excess use by vehicles.” 

5. Evidence submitted in support of the application 

5.1 The application was made by Mr Dawson after he became frustrated by the 
number of motor vehicles using Sheepwash Lane, having been directed there 
by satellite navigation systems when the main road (the B2179) was blocked 
due to heavy traffic bound for the beach.   

5.2 The application was supported by 6 public way user evidence forms, 
testifying to the use by 6 individuals from 6 unique postal addresses over the 
period of 1965 to 2018. 

5.3 The 6 user evidence forms show the following type of use: 

5.3.1 all users claim to have used the routes on foot; 

5.3.2 all users claim to have used the routes either on a bicycle or on 
horseback; 

5.3.3 one user claims to have used the route on foot, horseback and bicycle. 

5.4 Between the 6 users, the claimed frequency of use ranges from 115 times 
per year to 600, with an average of 296. 

5.5 None of the users report having been prevented from using the path, or 
having seen anyone else prevented. 

5.6 All users report to have seen others using the route on foot, bicycles and 
horseback. 

5.7 All users claim the path has remained the same in terms of its route and has 
not been ploughed or cultivated. 

5.8 In addition to this, Mr Dawson submitted a number of other pieces of 
evidence: 

5.8.1 A handwritten discourse into recent usage of motor vehicles on 
Sheepwash Lane, backed up by various documents including a 2017 
Chairman’s Report for the West Wittering Estate, some photographs of 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



his car at various points on the Lane, some 2011 statistics on national 
vehicle numbers retrieved from the Department for Transport website, 
and a printout of the results of a Google search for “how many vehicles 
on the road in the uk (sic) 2018”; 

5.8.2 A 2-page handwritten local history of Sheepwash Lane, ranging from 
Anglo-Saxon times to the present; 

Officer Comment - This document does not give any indication as to 
the historic status of Sheepwash Lane. 

5.8.3 An aerial photograph of Redlands Lanes, on which Mr Dawson has 
drawn the boundary of the Erstwhile West Wittering Common; 

5.8.4 Letters received by Mr Dawson from JH & FW Green Ltd who own a 
significant proportion of the land around Sheepwash Lane, though not 
the Lane itself.  These letters express support for the DMMO 
application and for limiting vehicular access to the Lane. 

5.9 This additional evidence submitted by Mr Dawson, though interesting, does 
not have any relevance as to whether the claimed route has public status and 
to what extent.   

6. Archive evidence  

6.1 Owing to Sheepwash Lane being recorded on the List of Streets as a G-class 
highway, it was necessary to perform a thorough search of all available maps 
and records to establish what the historical evidence can reveal about the 
extent of the public rights of way along the Lane.  The following documents 
were consulted at the West Sussex Record Office. 

6.2 West Wittering Tithe Map and Apportionment, 1846: 

6.2.1 The claimed route is depicted using solid lines.  There are no apparent 
features suggesting that access along the route was restricted.  There 
is no number on the Apportionment for the route, which is consistent 
with other roads known to be in use by the public at the time. For 
example, the Chichester Road, the B2179, is shown unrestricted as a 
throughfare and described by adjoining parcels 252 and 252a as a 
‘public road’ with the road not given an Apportionment reference. 

6.2.2 The absence of a restrictive feature across Sheepwash Lane stands in 
contrast to what is now Rookwood Lane, which has a solid line across 
its end at the junction between Rookwood Lane and Sheepwash Lane.  
Rookwood Lane is labelled 42 on the map, with the description “lane” 
and has an “outbound quantity” of “2a.4p”.  Its ownership is attributed 
to the Oliver Whitby Estate and its tenant is William Coombs. 

6.2.3 However, it should be noted that Tithe maps were not intended to 
establish or record public rights of way. The maps are only conclusive 
of matters of relevance to the tithe commissioners and generally give 
no more than an indication as to whether any way is public or private 
because a private right of way can also diminish the productivity of the 
land for tithe assessment. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



6.3 Ordnance Survey mapping: 

6.3.1 The following Ordnance Survey Maps were consulted (all 1:2500 
scale): 

- OS Draft 1806 
- OS First Edition 1875 (including the Area Book) 
- OS Second Edition 1898 
- OS 1911-12 Edition 
- OS 1933 Edition 
- OS 1966 Edition 
- OS 1995 Edition 

6.3.2 The Ordnance Survey maps all depict Sheepwash Lane in the same 
way, as departing from what is now the B2179 at Malthouse or 
Rookwood Corner, travelling north-west for around 906 metres, then 
turning south-west for around 560m, where it joins Redlands Lane. 
The route is depicted using solid lines on either side of the Lane. There 
are no visible features which would suggest that the claimed route was 
not freely accessible to the public.  The 1875 First Edition has the 
route coloured orange, which is the same as other main routes in the 
area, such as the (now) B2179 and Itchenor Road. The area book for 
the First Edition labels the route as area 194 with the description 
“road”. 

6.3.3 Ordnance Survey Maps can provide an accurate picture of the 
landscape at the date of survey, and carry strong evidential weight, 
but it should be noted that the surveyors mapped physical features 
and not legal rights. 

6.4 Adcock Report, 1890 and Map, 1894:  The report makes no mention of 
Sheepwash Lane, but does mention Redlands Lane, and records it having a 
length of 1 mile, 150 yards, which is considerably longer than Redlands Lane 
is in reality.  The map has a very clear notation of Redlands Farm, so it 
appears that Adcock subsumed Sheepwash Lane into Redlands Lane and 
measured them together, as their combined total is approximately that 
given.  The claimed route and Redlands Lane is coloured dark green on the 
map and is depicted as being a fifth-class highway, in very poor condition. 

6.5 Gardner and Gream Map, 1795:  Sheepwash Lane is clearly shown on the 
map as a road. The route connects openly to the other roads in the vicinity.  
Redlands Lane, to which Sheepwash Lane connects at its eastern end, and 
which also connects Sheepwash Lane to the (now) B2179 is not shown on 
this map.  The implication of this may be that Sheepwash Lane once formed 
part of the road network connecting West Wittering and Itchenor, and 
therefore may carry public vehicular rights. 

6.6 Richard Budgen Map, 1724: This map does not show any roads or paths in 
the Witterings area beyond the main road leading on from Birdham to West 
Wittering village centre.  The eastern section of this road is marked with 
dotted lines, in contrast to the solid lines around West Wittering.  As such it 
is not of any use in determining this claim. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



6.7 Rights of Way Act Maps, 1932:  This map does not depict the claimed route 
as a public right of way such as a footpath or bridleway, though the fact that 
other footpaths connect with it implies the public must have had a right of 
access to it.  The local map prepared for the Act was based on the 1933 
edition OS map, which shows Sheepwash Lane as an open road much like 
the Chichester Road (now the B2179) as referred to above in paragraph 6.3. 

6.8 Survey of Rights of Way under the National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act 1949:  The Provisional Definitive Map (1958-59) was 
consulted.  It shows Sheepwash Lane as depicted on the Ordnance Survey 
maps described above.  It was not designated as a public right of way at the 
time the map was formulated. No features are present which would suggest 
that access was not freely available. The map depicts “County Roads” using 
orange shading; Sheepwash Lane is left uncoloured. 

6.9 The West Wittering Inclosure Award, 1793:  Only the very eastern end of 
Sheepwash Lane is visible on the Inclosure Award map, labelled as “Roberts 
Lane”.  Redlands Lane (labelled “to Roberts Lane”) is also depicted and is 
shown from its junction with the (now) B2179, until it turns into Roberts 
Lane.  Both junctions are open and show no sign of impediment to anyone 
wishing to use the roads.  Redlands Lane is described in the text of the 
awards as being “…one other public Road or Way twenty feet broad clear of 
all ditches leading Northwards also from and out of the Road or Way first 
hereinbefore set out and described into a public road or way called or known 
by the Name of Robert’s Lane”.  Both Redlands Lane and Roberts (now 
Sheepwash) Lane are here noted as “public road or way”.  Additionally, both 
Redlands and Sheepwash Lanes are coloured yellow on this map, and the 
map legend states “the public roads are coloured yellow.” 

6.10 The Oliver Whitby Estate Map, 1828:  This map is a plan of “Courts Farm … 
belonging to the hospital founded by Oliver Whitby Esq … in the year 1702.”  
It shows a short section of Sheepwash Lane at its western end, where it was 
bounded by fields belonging to Courts Farm on its north side, and to a short 
extent on its south side.  Although Sheepwash Lane is not labelled and has 
no direction listed on it (whereas other roads on the plan are listed as ‘to 
Chichester’ or ‘to Itchenor’) like in the Tithe Map (paragraph 6.2 above), its 
end is clearly shown as open, again in contrast to that of (now) Rookwood 
Lane, which is closed off and numbered on the plan. 

6.11 Minutes of the West Wittering Parish Council meeting on 17 March 1919:  A 
paragraph in these minutes states “Complaint was also made as to the state 
of the road known as Sheepwash Lane, which has holes in it a foot deep. Mr 
Cate1 proposed that the District Council be written and asked to repair same, 
seconded by Mr Chandler.” This is an indication that in 1919 the Parish 
Council considered Sheepwash Lane to be a road, and maintainable at public 
expense.  No record of any response by the District Council was minuted in 
later meetings. 

6.12 Report on the survey of footpaths in the Parish of West Wittering carried, out 
by E D Clements Esq, Surveyor and given to Mr J Hemmings, Footpath 
Secretary (Sussex), Ramblers Association, dated February 1951:  This report 
was found on an old parish file in the County Council’s archives.  This report 

 
1 Or possibly Gate, Gale or Cale; the handwriting is unclear. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



contains a list of recorded paths and describes their state of use and 
maintenance for the benefit of the Ramblers Association (Southern Area) and 
prepared by the County Council’s County Surveyor of public rights of way.  
This report can be found in the background papers.  Sheepwash Lane is 
included as an ‘Unclaimed Path’ and it is listed as ‘A’ meaning ‘path little 
used’ according to the key on the first page.  The description of the path is ‘a 
good track between hedges’.  The report is typed throughout, however, next 
to the description is a handwritten note which says ‘maintained carriageway’.  
It is not clear who wrote the side note given the report was prepared by the 
Surveyor and typed throughout. 

7. Evidence provided by Sarah Rayfield on behalf of the British Horse 
Society 

7.1 Ms Rayfield complied a dossier of evidence to support the claim that 
Sheepwash Lane carries higher rights than those of a bridleway.  In addition 
to the 1846 West Wittering Tithe Map (discussed in paragraph 6.2 above), 
Ms Rayfield provided evidence from the following sources: 

1. 1805 Ordnance Survey “Arundel” 
2. 1898 OS County Series 1:2500 
3. 1910 Finance Act Map & Field Book 
4. 1911 OS 1:2500 Sussex LXXII.8 and 1912 LXXII.4 
5. 2015 West Sussex List of Streets 
6. 2023 Geoplace FindMyStreet (National Street Gazetteer) 
7. 2023 Land Registry 

7.2 According to Ms Rayfield, numbers 1 to 3 and 7 on this list provide evidence 
in favour of the claimed route being public carriageway. 

7.3 Number 4 is evidence, according to Ms Rayfield, that the public had at least 
rights on horseback along Sheepwash Lane, and numbers 5 and 6 
demonstrate it should be marked on the definitive map as a restricted 
byway. 

7.4 Ms Rayfield’s overall conclusion is that, taken as a whole, “the single 
explanation of the facts that a highway existed is compelling.  As a result of 
the common law maxim ‘Once a highway always a highway’, in the absence 
of a stopping up order, it follows that a public carriageway existed 
immediately before the operation of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006.”  Ms Rayfield’s conclusion will be discussed in 
conjunction with the Officer’s conclusion in paragraph 16. 

8. Evidence provided by Julie Robinson 

8.1 Mrs Robinson, acting in an individual capacity, also submitted a portfolio of 
archival evidence to support the claim that the claimed route carries public 
rights of way higher than those of a bridleway.  In addition to the Tithe Map, 
the Inclosure Award and Map, the Gardner and Gream Map, the Adcock 
Survey, the First Edition OS Map 1875, and the Rights of Way Act 1932 Maps 
(discussed in paragraph 7 above), Mrs Robinson includes evidence from the 
following sources: 

1. John Cary’s New Map of England, 1794 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



2. OS Old Series 1813 “Mudge Map” of Sussex 
3. Greenwood and Greenwood Map of Sussex 1825 
4. 1910 Finance Act Map & Field Book 
5. Ordnance Survey Object Name Books 
6. OS 1” to 1 Mile Maps 1895, 1947 and 1960 
7. West Sussex Online Land Charges Map 
8. HM Land Registry 

8.2 The conclusion drawn by Mrs Robinson from all the above evidence is that 
the claimed route, Sheepwash Lane, is a public road which should carry 
vehicular rights: “There would appear to be a greater body of evidence which 
indicates, on the balance of probabilities, that Sheepwash Lane has public 
vehicular rights originating from its use prior to the 1793 Inclosure Award, 
than there is to support a lesser status of bridleway.”  Mrs Robinson’s 
conclusion will be discussed in conjunction with the Officer’s conclusion in 
paragraph 16. 

9. Evidence provided by the Trail Riders Fellowship 

9.1 The Trail Riders Fellowship (the ‘TRF’) were consulted on an informal non-
statutory basis as part of the investigation into this application.  For 
consideration, they have submitted the following: 

1. A covering letter dated 15 June 2023, with links to archive maps 
2. A local newspaper article written by Charles Shippam dated 18 January 

1979 
3. Legal advice as to the recording of BOATs on the definitive map and 

statement dated 21 February 2022 

9.2 Covering letter and links to archive maps: 

9.2.1 In their covering letter, the TRF state they believe that the historic 
archive shows Sheepwash Lane in a manner that is consistent with 
carriageway status.  They state that it is improbable that WSCC did not 
know the route as a carriageway prior to the recording of the first 
definitive map which was why it was not included as a right of way 
because it was beyond the scope of the legislation to do so. 

9.2.2 They state that the onus is on the applicant to prove that there is no 
evidence of public vehicular rights and no such evidence has been 
produced. 

9.2.3 They contend that WSCC does not have the power to record 
Sheepwash Lane on the definitive map and statement because it is a 
carriageway for vehicles and there has been ‘no discovery of evidence’ 
because WSCC has always known the Lane to be a carriageway rather 
than a public right of way. 

9.2.4 The TRF’s covering letter includes three hyperlinks to documentary 
evidence.  The links connect to a number of Ordnance Survey maps 
which have been considered above including the draft Ordnance 
Survey map, some Scottish Ordnance Survey maps which are not 
relevant and some commercial maps.  None of the links provide any 
maps which can be viewed at a readable scale and no printed copies 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



have been provided.  No explanation of the significance of any of these 
maps has been provided either, other than to say that Sheepwash 
Lane is recorded ‘in a a manner that is consistent with carriageway 
status’. 

9.3  Local newspaper article dated 18 January 1979: 

This article was written for the West Sussex Gazette by Charles Shippam in 
January 1979.  Charles Shippam was a former chairman of the County 
Council’s Rights of Way Committee.  In this article he sets out, for the benefit 
of members of the West Sussex Harness Club and the Trail Riders Fellowship, 
a number of ‘unmarked and unmapped unmetalled maintainable 
carriageways in West Sussex within its old borders’.  Mr Shippam said that 
users may find the ‘links and circuits’ interesting in spite of WSCC 
‘persistently refusing to identify and often deter use with unlawful “no 
through road” signs.’  He further says that ‘many are unsuitable for three or 
four-wheeled traffic (motor) and may be a bit tight for a four in hand.’  The 
TRF understand that Sheepwash Lane is listed as no. 34 in the article and 
described by Mr Shippam as ‘a circuit north of A286 West Wittering by 
Redlands Farm,’ however it is the investigating officer’s opinion that this 
description is not conclusive in identifying Sheepwash Lane. 

9.4 Legal advice dated 21 February 2022: 

Counsel was asked to advise the TRF generally (the advice was not specific 
to this DMMO application) on the propriety of Order Making Authorities 
(OMAs) adding minor roads or unclassified roads to the definitive map and 
statement as BOATs.  The full advice document can be read in the 
background papers and is summarised as follows: - 

9.4.1 The advice discusses the various Acts that have supported and 
promoted the recording of public rights of way over time including the 
National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, the 
Countryside Act 1968, the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 and the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act 2006.  The advice clarifies that the purpose 
of rights of way legislation throughout time has always been to protect 
‘public paths’ (defined as “a highway being either a footpath or a 
bridleway” under the 1949 Act) and described by Lord Fraser 
Tullybelton as ways for ‘ramblers and riders’ in Suffolk CC v Mason 
(1979).  BOATs were only able to be added to the definitive map and 
statement following the enactment of the 1968 Act under which a duty 
was placed on local authorities to conduct a ‘special review’ of all 
Roads Used as Public Paths (‘RUPPs’).  RUPPs were a third class of 
right of way (other than footpath and bridleway) and the review’s 
purpose was to reclassify RUPPs, depending on the evidence available 
at that time, as a footpath, bridleway or BOAT. Similarly to the 1968 
Act, a BOAT is defined under S66 of the 1981 Act as ‘a highway over 
which the public have a right of way for vehicular and all other kinds of 
traffic, but which is used by the public mainly for the purposes for 
which footpaths and bridleways are used’ which illustrates the point 
that the legislation was and is not concerned with recording ordinary 
roads to the definitive map. 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



9.4.2 The advice also discusses the legal requirement for the ‘discovery of 
evidence’ event under S53(3)(c)(i) of the 1981 Act and whether 
unclassified roads can meet this test when the existence of public 
vehicular rights (historic or otherwise) were already known to the 
OMA.  A Section 53(3)(c)(i) event is ’the discovery by the authority of 
evidence which…shows…that a right of way which is not shown in the 
map and statement subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over 
land…’.  The advice quotes from the case Mayhew v SSE (1993) and 
Potts J: ““To discover,” means to find out or become aware.  
“Discovery,” means finding out or making known (Concise Oxford 
Dictionary).  It connotes a mental process in the sense of the 
discoverer applying his mind to something previously unknown to him.  
In my judgment, the “event” in section 53(3)(c) is concerned with the 
finding out of some information which was not known to the surveying 
authority when the earlier definitive map was prepared.  Were it 
otherwise, the surveying authority or a member of the public would be 
unable to take steps to correct a previously mistaken decision.  Such a 
state of affairs would be at variance with the purpose and scheme of 
the legislation as well as good sense.” 

9.4.3 The advice argues that if the unclassified road in question was 
maintained and appeared on the County Council’s ‘List of Streets’ (the 
list of all maintainable highways (to whatever extent) as required to be 
kept by all highway authorities under S36(6) of the Highways Act 
1980) then there will be no ‘discovery of evidence’ as the highway’s 
status and its nature will have already been known to the OMA. 

9.4.4 The TRF contends that this advice is relevant to the determination of 
this claim.   

10. Consideration of claim 

10.1 The application was submitted with user evidence summarised in paragraph 
5 and contained in the background papers of this report. The additional 
evidence submitted by the BHS, Mrs Robinson and the TRF is summarised in 
paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 above and hard copies of these representations are 
contained in the background papers.  

10.2 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 requires there to be a 
“discovery” of evidence. The applicant here relies on user evidence, but as 
the claimed route is already registered as a G-class highway, the case officer 
has also conducted a thorough investigation of the County’s archives and this 
evidence is set out in paragraph 6 of this report and will be discussed further 
in this section of the report.  Section 32 Highways Act 1980 provides that a 
court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not 
been dedicated as a highway, shall take into consideration any map, plan or 
history of the locality or other relevant document, which is tendered in 
evidence, and shall give such weight thereto as the court or tribunal 
considers justified by the circumstances. In doing so, account must be taken 
of the antiquity of the document, the status of the person by whom and the 
purpose for which it was made or compiled and the custody in which it has 
been kept. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



10.3 In determining the application, there are two tests to consider. The 
Committee has to decide whether the evidence provided by the applicant, 
together with all other relevant evidence available, shows that on the balance 
of probability a right of way subsists, or is reasonably alleged to subsist. In 
the majority of DMMO applications, the burden of proving this falls to the 
applicant.  However the pre-existing status of the claimed route as a G-class 
highway has necessitated investigation and examination of all available 
historical evidence by WSCC legal officers. 

10.4 DMMO applications have to be determined on the basis of the available 
evidence and the rule of law.  Matters such as suitability of a way and 
possible nuisance or need, are irrelevant and cannot be taken into account 
when reaching a decision. 

10.5 In respect of the user evidence, the application has been considered under 
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, deemed dedication of a way after 
uninterrupted use of 20 years.   

10.6 Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 requires consideration of whether there 
has been use of a way by the public as of right and without interruption for a 
period of twenty years prior to its status being brought into question and, if 
so, whether there is evidence that any landowner demonstrated a lack of 
intention during this period to dedicate a public right of way.   

11.  The 20-Year Period 

11.1  A relevant date needs to be determined in order to establish the 20-year 
period. The relevant date is the period when the land has actually been 
enjoyed by the public as of right (without permission, without force and 
without secrecy) and without interruption for a full period of 20 years taken 
back retrospectively from the first date of challenge.In this instance, the 
applicant claims that increased use of Sheepwash Lane by motor vehicles in 
2018 prompted him to apply for it to be added to the definitive map as a 
bridleway, to prevent such usage.  He submitted six public way user evidence 
forms testifying to use of the route between 1965 and 2018.  Therefore, the 
relevant 20-year period for the purpose of determining this application 
should be 1998-2018. 

11.3 Whilst it is not necessary for all users to demonstrate continuous use 
throughout the 20-year period, they must demonstrate that the use has been 
made by the public continually during that period.  The difficulty with the 
user evidence in this application is whether six people using the path 
regularly can be construed as usage by the general public. 

11.4 As detailed in paragraph 5.4 above, evidence was provided testifying to the 
frequency of use of this path, with the number of times given ranging 
between 115 to 600 times a year. 

12. As of right and without interruption? 

12.1  “As of right” means use without force, secrecy or permission. It is irrelevant 
whether the users actually knew they were not entitled to use the route or 
were indifferent as to whether they could use it. What is important is that 
looked at objectively they appeared to be using the path as of right. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



12.2 As detailed in paragraph 5 above, evidence submitted in all user evidence 
forms has shown that the route has been used by 6 users, of whom the one 
using it for the shortest duration still claims to have used it for the 29 years 
ending in 2018.  The person using it for longest claims to have done so for 
53 years, i.e. since 1965.  Applying a cumulative frequency formula to the 
data (assuming the figures given are accurate) gives a figure of 66,655 
individual uses over the entire claimed length of use, or 35,500 during the 
20-year period. 

12.3 Between 1998-2018, none of the users claim to have been stopped from 
using the route, or to have been given permission to do so. It therefore 
appears that access to the route has been available throughout the relevant 
period. 

12.4 With regard to the issue of ‘permission’ a distinction needs to be drawn 
between toleration and permission. A landowner may be aware of the use of 
a path but chooses to do nothing to prevent that use. In those 
circumstances, even if they later make it clear they did not support the use 
of the path during the relevant period (i.e. by giving their permission), their 
actions could be regarded as toleration of the use during that period. This 
means the use could still be regarded as being as of right.  

12.5 However, the situation would be different if the landowners permitted the 
public to use the path but made clear (either expressly e.g. by a sign or 
through their conduct e.g. by closing the path occasionally) that consent 
could be withdrawn in the future. In that case the use would be with 
permission and not as of right. 

12.6 Between 1998-2018, no landowner appears to have prevented the use of the 
path by the public by way of signage or told anyone they may use it only 
with permission.  In summary therefore, the use by members of the public of 
the route between 1998 and 2018 which any landowners did not prevent or 
explicitly permit, indicates that the use during the relevant period was as of 
right and without interruption. 

13. Evidence of no intention to dedicate 

13.1 It is considered that the user evidence has met the statutory tests as set out 
in Section 31 Highways Act 1980. User evidence submitted in support of the 
application shows that the original route had been used as of right and 
without interruption for a period of 20 years or more. 

13.2 It is therefore necessary to further consider whether there is sufficient 
evidence of no intention during the relevant 20-year period to dedicate by 
the landowner. 

13.3 Evidence of a landowner’s intention not to dedicate a public right of way must 
be overt and contemporaneous. The landowner cannot assert after the event 
that there was no intention to dedicate. 

13.4 No landowner for the application route has been identified or come forward 
willingly, neither has any indication that a landowner wishes to dedicate the 
path or prevent the path by means of a s31(6) Highways Act 1980 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



Landowner Deposit from being registered as a right of way.  Should the latter 
have occurred, evidence would be held on file by WSCC.  

13.5 The freely available use of the path without restriction speaks to, at very 
least, the tolerance of any landowners of its use by the public. 

14. Common Law 

14.1  At Common Law a right of way may be created through express or implied 
dedication and acceptance. The onus of proof is on the claimant to show that 
the landowner, who must have the capacity to dedicate, intended to do so 
and that the public have accepted such dedication. Whilst there is no defined 
minimum period of continuous use to establish a right of way at Common 
Law, the use must be shown to have been as of right. 

14.2 Dedication at common law is presumed if the way has been used by the 
public as of right. There is no defined length of time over which the use must 
occur and it simply must be long enough to justify an inference that there 
was an intention by the Landowner to dedicate. A Landowner needs to be 
legally capable of dedicating the way as public, therefore any periods in 
which the land was occupied by tenants could not be included in the period of 
user. 

14.3 In this case there is evidence of use by members of the public, which spans a 
considerable period of time, and this use by the public demonstrates their 
acceptance of the dedication.  It could therefore be concluded that rights of 
way have been created at common law. 

15. G-class Highway  

15.1 As a G-class highway, the claimed route has a status of antiquity and as such 
is acknowledged to have public rights, though the extent of these rights is 
not yet established.  The evidence examined by the case officer needs to be 
assessed with the intent of discovering how far these rights extend.  In 
making a recommendation, all the evidence has been considered in 
accordance with Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, the relevant legal 
tests in Section 53 WCA 1981 and case law. In the case of claimed highways, 
direct evidence is often impossible to find and so it is necessary to draw 
inferences from circumstantial evidence. 

15.2 The claimed route has been depicted on various maps over time. Many of the 
maps show the claimed route as freely linking Sheepwash Lane with the 
(now) B2179 at its western end and Redlands Lane to the east. There are no 
physical features shown on any of the maps which would suggest that access 
was restricted along the claimed route or that the claimed route was one 
which may be used as private access to land or a dwelling. 

15.3 The Tithe Map and the OS First Edition map both seem to show Sheepwash 
Lane as having a status equivalent to other public carriageways in the area 
at the time.  Subsequent OS maps appear to continue to support this level of 
public right.  However, as previously stated, neither the Tithe Map nor the 
OS maps were created with any intention of or responsibility for showing or 
demonstrating public rights of way. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



15.4 Both Ms Rayfield and Mrs Robinson provide details and analysis of the 1910 
Finance Act Maps, which also shows the claimed route as commensurate with 
other main roads in the area.  For the purposes of the revenue calculations 
required by the Finance Act, vehicular roads were usually excluded from 
landholdings as they brought no value to the land. Sheepwash Lane is 
depicted as a “white road” with no parcel number.  Documents and plans 
produced under the Finance Act can provide good evidence on the status of a 
way, although the production of information on such ways was very much 
incidental to the main purpose of the legislation.  A possible conclusion could 
be that Sheepwash Lane was considered a public carriageway.  Both Ms 
Rayfield and Mrs Robinson draw this conclusion.  

15.5 West Sussex Record Office copies of the 1910 Finance Act Maps for the 
western half of West Sussex, including the Chichester and West Wittering 
area were destroyed when the Chichester Valuation office was badly affected 
by bombing in the Second World War.  These copies were provided by the 
National Archives in Kew.  According to a letter in the Inland Revenue hard 
copy catalogue (now held by WSRO) the County Council received the maps 
and reference Books in 1979 from the National Archives.  This information 
would therefore not have been available to the County Council during the 
time that the definitive map was being compiled. 

15.6 The Adcock Map depicts Sheepwash Lane as a publicly maintainable highway, 
of the fifth class.  As footpaths and bridleways were not included in Adcock’s 
survey, a possible implication is again that the claimed route carries a higher 
right than bridleway. 

15.7 The 1951 report to the Ramblers’ Association could be considered evidence 
to support the argument that at the time the definitive map was compiled 
the County Council understood Sheepwash Lane to be a public carriageway 
rather than a public right of way.  However, the surveyor had prepared the 
report and included Sheepwash Lane as an unclaimed path.  However, 
without knowing for sure who wrote ‘maintained carriageway’ on the report 
by hand, it is not a conclusive piece of evidence on the status of the claimed 
route as public carriageway.    

15.8 The consistency of the depiction of Sheepwash Lane as a public road across 
the majority of the sources examined (as detailed in paragraph 6) is 
potentially good evidence to support the claim that it carried vehicular rights.  
It is considered good practice when assessing rights of way cases to view 
each piece of evidence as a strand of a rope or piece of a jigsaw.  
Individually the pieces may not carry much weight or complete the picture, 
but when many different sources appear to agree, the indication that public 
rights subsist becomes stronger and more coherent. 

15.9 The overall picture emerging in this case is that it is reasonable to conclude 
that Sheepwash Lane was considered in the past to be a public road, carrying 
vehicular rights.  As a result, the provisions of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act (NERC) 2006 need to be taken into consideration. 

15.10 One of the main principles of NERC 2006 was to “curtail the future scope for 
establishing and recording public rights of way for mechanically propelled 
vehicles where these are based on either evidence of historic use, or 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



dedication for use, by vehicles that were not mechanically propelled.”2 
Section 67(1) of this Act extinguished public rights for mechanically propelled 
vehicles (subject to certain exemptions) at commencement on 2 May 2006, 
while S66 restricts the creation of new such rights.  Unless any of the 
conditions for the exemptions set out in S67(2) or (3) were met, from this 
point, no further rights of way for mechanically propelled vehicles could be 
added to the definitive map.  Instead, such rights would be added as 
restricted byways. 

15.11 Under S67(2) it is necessary to show both that: (a) a public right of way for 
mechanically propelled vehicles existed at the commencement of section 67 
(on 2 May 2006); and (b) that those rights had not been extinguished, 
because one of the exceptions in 67(2) or 67(3) applies. 

15.12 In this case, there seems to be reasonable evidence that a right of way for 
mechanically propelled vehicles existed prior to May 2006.  Subsection 
67(2)(b) provides an exception for “ways that are both recorded on the “list 
of streets” as being maintainable at public expense and are not recorded on 
the definitive map and statement as rights of way.”3  It has been established 
that Sheepwash Lane is recorded on the List of Streets as a G-class highway 
maintainable at public expense.  It is also clear that it is not listed on the 
definitive map, otherwise this application would not be before the Committee 
now.  Therefore it seems reasonable to conclude that the exemption in 
subsection 67(2)(b) applies, and it would therefore be admissible to add the 
claimed route to the definitive map as a byway open to all traffic. 

15.13 The TRF argue based on their evidence that Sheepwash Lane is a 
carriageway and therefore has a higher status than bridleway or BOAT, and 
that the legislation and relevant case law does not support it being added to 
the definitive map and statement as a public right of way at all.   

15.14 When determining applications and considering evidence that may support 
the inclusion on the definitive map of a BOAT one has to decide whether 
vehicular rights have been found to exist.  It is not right to simply rely on 
whether a way is included on the County Council’s ‘List of Streets’.  The List 
of Streets is a list of all highways in the County and variable to the level of 
maintenance afforded.  It does not give a legal status to the ways listed, as 
confirmed in DEFRA’s advice letter dated 28 November 2006; a copy of which 
is in the background papers. It is necessary to assess all the evidence 
together to gain an overall understanding of the status and nature of the way 
in question.  The List of Streets only confirms that Sheepwash Lane is 
recorded as a G-class highway and that whilst it is a way of a certain 
historical antiquity the extent of public rights along it is unquantified without 
further investigation.  The fact that S67(2)(b) of NERC 2006 exempts any 
ways subject to a DMMO application that are included in the List of Streets is 
to allow such an investigation to grapple with the evidence to uncover a 
way’s true status. 

15.15 In the case of Masters v SSETR (2001) consideration of the nature of the way 
is key.  To be added to the definitive map and statement there does not need 

 
2 Defra guidance on Part 6 of the NERC Act 2006 (whatdotheyknow.com), paragraph 3, page 3, 

accessed 12 June 2023 
3 Ibid, para 22, page 8, accessed 12 June 2023 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4

https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/391246/response/947612/attach/4/NERC%20ACT.PDF.pdf?cookie_passthrough=1


to be evidence of current vehicular use nor does non-vehicular use need to 
exceed vehicular use, instead it is necessary to consider the “concept or 
character of such a way” and whether the ”character made them more likely 
to be used by walkers and horse-riders than vehicular traffic because they 
were more suitable for use by walkers and horse-riders than by vehicles.”  If 
the way does not have the character of a BOAT (definition can be read above 
in paragraph 9.4.1) then it cannot be added to the definitive map as a public 
right of way.  The user evidence submitted in support of the application and 
comments from some of the consultees testify to the nature of the claimed 
route being a path that is used mostly by users on foot, bicycle and 
horseback.  Additionally, the site visit made by the investigating officer 
produced further evidence to support this. 

15.16 The TRF contend that because Sheepwash Lane was known to the County 
Council as a carriageway in the time before and during the drafting of the 
first definitive map and has since been listed on the List of Streets then there 
has been no discovery of evidence and does not meet the legal tests under 
S53(3)(c)(i) of the 1981 Act.  It is accepted that if a way is considered to be, 
and maintained, as a carriageway then there would be no such discovery.  
However, as explained above, the existence of Sheepwash Lane on the List of 
Streets does not conclusively confirm the route’s status; an investigation has 
been necessary.  Equally, it could be argued that the general knowledge of 
the existence of the West Wittering Tithe Map and Inclosure Award (amongst 
other maps listed above) was known about but no investigation before now 
has taken place into the status of the route as shown on these maps.   

15.17 The newspaper article submitted in support of the TRF’s case confirms some 
confusion over Sheepwash Lane in 1979.  The article comments that the 
ways listed are generally unmetalled, unmarked and not suitable in many 
cases for three- or four-wheeled traffic. 

15.18 It is considered that, contrary to the case put forward by the TRF, there has 
been a ‘discovery of evidence’.  The user evidence submitted with the 
application has triggered the County Council’s duty to investigate all available 
evidence as to Sheepwash Lane’s status.  This element of the evidence as 
well as uncovering, as a whole, what is in the archive not considered fully 
before, is a ‘discovery of evidence’, by finding out or becoming aware, by 
applying the mind to something previously unknown to the surveying 
authority when the earlier definitive map was prepared (Mayhew v Secretary 
of State for the Environment [1992]).  Without the investigation having 
taken place the overall picture created by the archive would not have been 
discovered.  The List of Streets forms just one piece of this ‘jigsaw’.  Regard 
must be given to the existence of evidence not considered at the time the 
definitive map and statement was compiled.  All evidence that was 
considered during the mapping process and which in this case left 
Sheepwash Lane off the legal record of public rights of way would not alone 
be a ‘discovery of evidence’.  The user evidence, the newspaper extract from 
Charles Shippam and the Finance Act 1910 maps are examples of evidence 
that would not have been available to the authority at the time.  It is correct 
for the County Council to process this DMMO application and to consider all 
available evidence as a whole and determine the legal status of Sheepwash 
Lane and whether an Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement 
should be made. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



16. Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

16.1 In terms of the application based on user evidence, the applicant has 
produced credible evidence which demonstrates clear use of the claimed 
route, as of right, during the 20-year period.  It is not considered that there 
is credible evidence in conflict of this claimed use. 

16.2 However, as the claimed route is registered as a G-class highway and there 
is also credible evidence of a higher public right of way,  this higher right 
supersedes the application for bridleway status made by the applicant. 

16.3 Evidence of a higher status than bridleway has been considered throughout 
this report.  Some evidence points to BOAT status and some evidence 
purports to Sheepwash Lane being a fully-fledged publicly maintainable 
carriageway.  

16.4 Although the evidence in favour of a public carriageway and a byway open to 
all traffic is credible, it is not the interpretation of the officer that it is entirely 
conclusive. All evidence implies there is a through unobstructed ‘road’. Some 
evidence even references the claimed route as a ‘Road’ or ‘Carriageway’. It is 
important to note that the production of the historic documents were not 
conceived to define the legal status of a right of way or highway; the 
delineation of such is incidental to the document’s true purpose.   

16.5 To be added to the definitive map as a BOAT the route needs to meet the 
exemptions of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
(refer to paragraphs 15.9 to 15.12) and it needs to meet the ‘concept and 
character’ test of a BOAT (Masters v SSETR [2001]) as discussed in 
paragraph 15.15 above.  Sheepwash Lane does appear on the ‘List of 
Streets’ under the exemption in S67(2)(b) of the NERC Act.  Given the 
evidence submitted by the applicant, the Ramblers’ Association, the British 
Horse Society and other third parties summarised in paragraph 4 of this 
report and descriptions of the route in the 1951 report and the 1979 
newspaper article the concept or character of the route is in line with a 
‘public path’ a way used mostly for those on foot and horseback.   

16.6 It could also be argued that Sheepwash Lane should not be added to the 
definitive map because it is a public maintainable carriageway.  There is 
certainly evidence that could support that, however, it is not considered to be 
overall conclusive and given the path’s nature and the evidence dating back 
to the 1950’s of this path being typically used for those on foot and 
horseback rather than vehicles it is concluded that an order for BOAT status 
would be most appropriate.  This recommendation is made on the basis only 
that the route can be reasonably alleged to subsist rather than the higher 
balance of probabilities test. 

16.7 It is therefore concluded that the lower legal test has been met; that it is 
reasonable to allege that such a right of way subsists over the claimed route.    

16.8 It is therefore recommended that an order should made to add the claimed 
route to the definitive map and statement as a byway open to all traffic. 

  

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



17. Consultation, engagement and advice 

17.1 See paragraph 4 above which details responses to the statutory consultations 
as well as responses to additional consultations that were carried out as part 
of the investigation process.   

18. Finance 

18.1 The County Council is under a duty to investigate Definitive Map Modification 
Order applications and all costs associated with the consideration of the 
application by officers’ falls within existing budgets. 

18.2 Cost implications arise: 

i. In the event of an order being made and objected to, the matter may 
fall to be considered at a public local inquiry or a public hearing. All 
fees incurred after submission of the order are borne by the County 
Council. This includes but is not limited to fees relating to the venue 
hire, fees relating to advert 

ii. Should an order be made and confirmed; if any works are necessary to 
ensure the path is open for public use. 

iii. Should the decision of the committee be challenged by way of Judicial 
Review. 

18.3 The decision taken by the investigating officer and the Rights of Way 
Committee is a decision based on the application of strict legal tests and the 
above costs cannot be a consideration in the determination of the 
application. 

19. Risk implications and mitigations  

19.1 The decision is one that must be taken on strict legal tests: 

i. If the application is not determined in accordance with the tests this 
could lead to a successful legal challenge by way of Judicial Review. 

ii. In the event that an order is made the landowner could appeal to the 
Secretary of State and the matter be considered by way of written 
representations, hearing or public inquiry. 

iii. In the event that an order is not made and the applicant disagrees 
with the decision then they have a right of appeal pursuant to 
Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to the Secretary 
of State.  The Secretary of State may direct the County Council to 
make an order, which if objected to could be considered by way of 
written representations, hearing or public inquiry.   

19.2 In reaching a recommendation the investigating officer has considered the 
evidence in accordance with the law. 

  

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



20. Policy alignment and compliance 

Equality and Human Rights Assessment 

20.1 The County Council has a duty to have regard to the impact of any proposal 
on those people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act. Officers 
considered the information provided by the applicant, together with the 
responses from consultees and other parties, and determined that the 
proposal would have no material impact on individuals or identifiable groups 
with protected characteristics.  

Human Rights Act 1998 Implications 

20.2 It is unlawful for a public authority to act in any way, which is incompatible 
with a convention right. The rights, which should be considered, are rights 
pursuant to Article 8, Article 1 and Protocol 1 and Article 6. 

20.3 Article 8 protects the right to respect for private and family life including an 
individual’s home. This is a qualified right and there may be interference by a 
public authority if that authority does so with an intention of protecting the 
right and freedom of others. 

20.4 Article 1, Protocol 1 deals with the protection of property. Again, this is a 
qualified right and interference of it may take place where it is in the public’s 
interest to do so subject to the conditions provided by law. Any interference, 
however, must be proportionate. 

20.5 The Committee should be aware of Article 6, the focus of which (for the 
purpose of this Committee) is the determination of an individual’s civil rights 
and obligations. Article 6 provides that in the determination of these rights, 
an individual is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time 
by an independent and impartial tribunal. Article 6 has been subject to a 
great deal of case law. It has been decided that for rights of way matters, 
the decision-making process as a whole, which includes the right of review 
by the High Court, complied with Article 6. 

 Crime and Disorder 

20.6 The Definitive Map Modification Order process involves the application of 
legal tests, which mean that it is not possible to give weight to any effect on 
crime and disorder.  

 Climate Change 

20.7 Enhancement of the public rights of way network is a positive contribution 
towards the Council’s stated ambition of being carbon neutral by 2030, 
however such considerations are not matters that can be taken into account 
when consideration applications against the strict legal tests. 

 Public Health  

20.8 The addition of public rights of way through the Definitive Map Modification 
Order process could assist in enhancing the general health and wellbeing of 
the communities served by the Council. However, such considerations are 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



not matters that can be taken into account when considering applications 
against the strict legal test.  

Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 

Contact Officer: Naomi Taite, Legal Assistant, 0330 222 5375 

Appendices 

• Appendix 1 – Site Plan 01823 

• Appendix 2 - Location Plan 01823A 

• Appendix 3 – Parish Location Plan 01823B 

Background Papers 

(1) Application and plan 

(2) Witness Table 

(3) Consultation responses 

(4) Evidence in support 

(5) Evidence in opposition 

(6) Archive evidence 

(7) 1951 County Surveyor Report to the Ramblers’ Association 

(8) DEFRA’s advice letter dated 28 November 2006 

** Please contact the contact officer to request a copy of the background 
papers 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Parish: West Wittering Agenda Item No:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell, or 

otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form.
Third-party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

West Sussex County Council Licence No: 100023447.

Date: 05 July 2023

Plan: 01823 1:5000

DMMO 3/19: Proposed Bridleway - Sheepwash Lane
Site Plan

OS Sheet: SZ7999

Grid Ref: SZ7917099489

Photocopy
liable to

distortion

Matt Davey
Assistant Director

Highways, Transport
and Planning

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Parish: West Wittering Agenda Item No:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell, or 

otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form.
Third-party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

West Sussex County Council Licence No: 100023447.

Date: 14 June 2023

Plan: 01823A 1:15000

DMMO 3/19: Proposed Bridleway - Sheepwash Lane
Location Plan

OS Sheet: SZ7999

Grid Ref: SZ7917599491

Photocopy
liable to

distortion

Matt Davey
Assistant Director

Highways, Transport
and Planning

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Parish: West Wittering Agenda Item No:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell, or 

otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form.
Third-party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

West Sussex County Council Licence No: 100023447.

Date: 14 June 2023

Plan: 01823B 1:425000

DMMO 3/19: Proposed Bridleway - Sheepwash Lane
Location Plan

OS Sheet: SZ7999

Grid Ref: TQ0831417261

Photocopy
liable to

distortion

Matt Davey
Assistant Director

Highways, Transport
and Planning

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Key decision: Not applicable 
Unrestricted 

 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee 

18 July 2023 

Current Planning Applications, Current Definitive Map Modification 
Orders (DMMOs), Town and Village Green applications (TVGs) and 
Public Path Orders (PPOs) under investigation 

Report by Head of Planning Services, Director of Law and Assurance 
and Assistant Director (Highways Transport and Planning) 
 

Table 1 - Minerals and Waste (County Matter) Planning Applications 

Reference 
(Case Officer) 

Applicant Proposal Location 

WSCC/080/19 
(Chris Bartlett) 

H Ripley & 
Co Ltd 

Variation of conditions 2, 8, 9 
and 12 of planning permission 
WSCC//037/18/CR to alter 
approved plans and 
documents relating to noise 
control, waste deliveries and 
skip and waste storage and 
non-compliance with condition 
4 relating to access and 
discharge of Condition 5 
relating to cycle parking. 

International Park, 
Priestley Way, 
Northgate,  
Crawley 
RH10 9NT 

WSCC/001/20 
(Chris Bartlett) 

Britaniacrest 
Recycling 
Ltd 

Variation of conditions 
1,2,4,8,19 and 22 of planning 
permission WSCC/009/18/SR 
to allow two further years’ 
extraction and restoration by 
2028. 

Washington Sand 
Pit 
Hampers Lane 
Sullington 
West Sussex 
RH20 3EX 

WSCC/028/21 
(Chris Bartlett) 

Dudman 
(Rock 
Common) 
Limited and 
The Wiston 
Estate 

The continued winning, 
working and processing of 
sand from the existing Rock 
Common Quarry, the 
importation of inert classified 
engineering and restoration 
material, the stockpiling and 
treating of the imported 
material, the placement of the 
imported material within the 
quarry void and the 
restoration and landscaping of 
the quarry. 

Rock Common 
Quarry, The 
Hollow, 
Washington, 
Pulborough, RH20 
3DA 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



Reference 
(Case Officer) 

Applicant Proposal Location 

WSCC/015/22 
(Edward 
Anderson) 

South Coast 
Skips Ltd 

Change of use of existing 
hangar building from B2/B8 
industrial/storage to sui 
generis, installation of 
combined heat and power 
plant, receipt of up to 15,000 
tonnes per year of feedstock, 
generation and export of up to 
1.25mW electricity and 5.5mW 
thermal and installation of HV 
meter cabinet. 

South Coast Skip 
Hire 
Unit H9-H10 Ford 
Road 
Arundel 
BN18 0BD 

WSCC/028/22 
(James Neave) 

Biffa Waste 
Services 

Extension of the existing 
Mechanical and Biological 
Treatment (MBT) facility site 
to provide for the storage of 
refused derived fuel (RDF) and 
compost like output (CLO) 
prior to export. 

Biffa West Sussex, 
Brookhurst Wood, 
Langhurst Wood 
Road, Horsham, 
RH12 4QD 

WSCC/007/23 
(Chris Bartlett) 

RM Pettett 
Ltd 

Change of use of land to form 
additional storage area in 
connection with existing metal 
recycling yard including hard 
surfacing and new boundary 
walls (Part retrospective). 

The Old Coal Yard, 
Jury Lane, 
Sidlesham 
Common, 
Chichester, West 
Sussex, PO20 7PX 

WSCC/008/23 
(Chris Bartlett) 

BASF 
Agricultural 
Specialities 
Ltd 

Installation of an Anaerobic 
Digestion (AD) plant to treat 
liquid biological waste stream 
from manufacturing plant 

Modern Moulds 
Business Centre, 
Unit A1 – A3, 
Harwood Road, 
Littlehampton, 
West Sussex, BN17 
7AU 

WSCC/013/23 
(Chris Bartlett) 

Mr Colin 
Huckwell 

Variation of condition 2 to 
allow the continuing of 
processing and recycling of 
waste and final restoration of 
the site until December 2024. 

Bridgers Farm 
Langton Lane 
Hassocks 
BN6 9HA 

WSCC/018/23 
(Chris Bartlett) 

Biffa Waste 
Services 
Limited 

Installation of a fire 
suppression and prevention 
system 

Crawley Waste 
Transfer Station, 
Metcalf Way, 
Crawley, RH11 7SU 

WSCC/021/23 
(James Neave) 

Recycle 
Southern 
Limited 

Regularisation, consolidation 
and extension to the existing 
waste transfer facility 
including an increase in 
throughput of waste. 

Recycle Southern 
Ltd 

Elbridge Farm, 
Chichester Road, 
Bognor Regis, 
PO21 5EF 

WSCC/023/23 
(Tyra Money) 

Southern 
Water 
Services Ltd 

Construction of 2no. Kiosks 
and associated works 

Pagham 
Wastewater 
Treatment Works, 
Summer Lane, 
Pagham, PO21 
4NG 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



Table 2 - Regulation 3 Planning Applications: 

Reference 
(Case Officer) 

Applicant Proposal Location 

WSCC/047/21 
(Edward 
Anderson) 

West 
Sussex 
County 
Council 

Creation of a 3G Artificial 
Grass Pitch (AGP) with 
perimeter fencing, 
floodlighting, macadam 
hardstanding area, storage 
container, timber acoustic 
barrier fence & macadam 
access pathway. 

The Forest School 
Comptons Lane 
Horsham 
RH13 5NT 

WSCC/021/22 
(Tyra Money) 

West 
Sussex 
County 
Council 

Demolition of existing single 
storey extension and erection 
of two storey side extension. 

18 Teasel Close, 
Crawley, RH11 9DZ 

WSCC/022/22 
(Tyra Money) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

Demolition of existing garage. 
Erection of two storey side 
extension and single storey 
rear extension. 

21 Lancing Close, 
Crawley RH11 0DJ 

WSCC/023/22 
(Tyra Money) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

Change of use from D1 to C2 
residential home. Demolition 
of existing and erection of new 
single storey extension on 
same building footprint. 

40 Teasel Close, 
Crawley RH11 9DZ 

WSCC/009/23 
(Tyra Money) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

Replacement of existing 1.2m 
high timber picket fence with 
1.8m metal mesh fencing. 

Twineham C Of E 
Primary School, 
Church Lane, 
Twineham, RH17 
5NR 

WSCC/011/23 
(Tyra Money) 

West 
Sussex 
County 
Council 

Installation of a new 
pedestrian access route from 
the Arundel road (B2225) 
expanding the existing 
pedestrian access. During the 
construction phase of planning 
permission WSCC/014/22, the 
pedestrian access will be used 
as a temporary vehicular 
access. 

St Margaret’s C Of 
E School, Arundel 
Road, Angmering, 
BN16 4LP 

WSCC/017/23 
(Chris Bartlett) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

The retention, repair and 
replacement of windows and 
doors to the original 19th 
century wing of Slinfold CE 
Primary School. 

Slinfold C of E 
Primary School, 
The Street, 
Slinfold, Horsham 
RH13 0RR 

WSCC/019/23 
(Edward 
Anderson) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

Variation of Condition No.1 of 
planning permission 
WSCC/025/18/HU to allow 
continued siting and use of 
temporary classroom for an 
additional five years. 

Trafalgar Infants 
School, Victory 
Road, Horsham, 
RH12 2JF 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



Reference 
(Case Officer) 

Applicant Proposal Location 

WSCC/020/23 
(Tyra Money) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

Erection of multiple single 
storey extensions, with 
alterations to car park, 
landscaping and other 
associated works. 

Edward Bryant 
Junior and Infants 
School, London 
Road, Bognor Regis 

WSCC/022/23 
(Tyra Money) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

Double relocatable classroom 
unit (variation of condition No. 
1 of planning permission 
NH/95/99 to allow the 
continued siting and use of 
temporary classroom for an 
additional five years) 

Holbrook County 
Primary School, 
Holbrook School 
Lane, RH12 5PP 

WSCC/024/23 
(Tyra Money) 

WSCC 
Assistant 
Director of 
Property & 
Assets 

Installation of artificial grass Hawthorns Primary 
School, 9 Poplar 
Road, Northbrook, 
Worthing, BN13 
3EZ 

Table 3 - Current DMMOs under investigation: 

App. No.  Application Details Date 
received 

Status and notes  

DMMO 2/19 
Archive 
 

Upgrade FP 2540 to 
Restricted Byway and to add 
a Restricted Byway in 
Henfield and Woodmancote. 

11/03/19 Investigation 
commenced April 2023. 

DMMO 3/19 
User 

Addition of a BW along the 
full length of Sheepwash 
Lane, West Wittering – G18. 

Formally 
accepted 
12.3.19 

Report to 18 July 2023 
Committee  

DMMO 2/21 
User 

Addition of a FP between FP 
795 to FP797 Loxwood. 

31.01.21 Investigation 
commenced May 2023.  
Report possible for 
September 2023 
Committee 

DMMO 4/21 
User 

Addition of a path with two 
extensions connecting 
Steyning Rifle Range, 
Footpath 2715 and Bridleway 
2714. 

09.03.21 Investigation 
commenced May 2023. 
PINS direction to 
determine within 15 
months of 8 March 2023 
(by 8 June 2024).  
Report possible for 
September 2023 
Committee 

 

  

Page 44

Agenda Item 5



Table 4 – Current Town and Village Green (TVG) applications under 
investigation: 

App. No.  Application Details Date 
received 

Status and notes  

TVG 31/52 Application to register TVG at 
Nutham Lane, Cedar Drive 
and Easteds Lane, 
Southwater 

July 2022 Investigation 
commenced November 
2022. 

TVG 30/53 Application to register TVG at 
Collingwood Road, Horsham 

September 
2022 

Investigation 
commenced November 
2022 

 

5.  Public Path Orders (PPOs): 

We will shortly be recommencing the processing of public path orders, to divert or 
extinguish public rights of way under Section 118 and 119 Highways Act 1980. In 
anticipation of the right to apply regulations being brought into effect and the 
proposed changes under these regulations, applications have not been accepted since 
2018.  

Monthly updates on applications under active investigation will be reported here. 

Michael Elkington  Tony Kershaw  Matt Davey 
Head of Planning Services Director of Law   Assistant Director 

Assurance    (Highways and Transport) 

Contact Officers: Andrew Sierakowski, Acting County Planning Team Manager, Ext. 
22762 for Planning; Laura Floodgate, Senior Solicitor, Legal Services, Ext. 24720 for 
DMMOs and TVGs and Ami Dye, Senior Rights of Way Officer, Highway Operations, 
Ext. 22687 for PPOs 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of previous meetings of the Committee
	4 Definitive Map Modification Order
	Key decision: Not applicable
	Unrestricted
	Planning and Rights of Way Committee
	18 July 2023
	DMMO 3/19 - Definitive Map Modification Order Application to modify the definitive map and statement for Chichester by adding a bridleway from along the length of Sheepwash Lane, from the junction with the B2179 at Rookwood Lane, to its end on Redlands Lane, in the parish of West Wittering
	Electoral division: The Witterings
	Summary
	Recommendation
	1	Introduction
	2.	Character and features of the claimed route
	3. 	Land Ownership
	4. 	Consultations
	5.	Evidence submitted in support of the application
	6.	Archive evidence
	7.	Evidence provided by Sarah Rayfield on behalf of the British Horse Society
	8.	Evidence provided by Julie Robinson
	9.	Evidence provided by the Trail Riders Fellowship
	10.	Consideration of claim
	11. 	The 20-Year Period
	12.	As of right and without interruption?
	13.	Evidence of no intention to dedicate
	14.	Common Law
	15.	G-class Highway
	16.	Overall Conclusion and Recommendation
	17.	Consultation, engagement and advice
	18.	Finance
	19.	Risk implications and mitigations
	20.	Policy alignment and compliance
	Appendices


	PlngRoW_18.07.23_DMMO_03.19_App1_01823
	PlngRoW_18.07.23_DMMO_03.19_App2_01823
	PlngRoW_18.07.23_DMMO_03.19_App3_01823

	5 Date of Next Meeting
	Planning and Rights of Way Committee
	18 July 2023
	Current Planning Applications, Current Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMOs), Town and Village Green applications (TVGs) and Public Path Orders (PPOs) under investigation
	Report by Head of Planning Services, Director of Law and Assurance and Assistant Director (Highways Transport and Planning)
	5.  Public Path Orders (PPOs):



